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Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Report of the directors
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Report of the directors

The directors have the pleasure of presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of
Sanlam General Insurance Limited (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2021 which disclose
the state of affairs of the Company.

The annual report and financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Company are the underwriting of all classes of non-life insurance risk with
the exception of Micro-insurance as defined by the Insurance Act.

The Company’s performance

The Company reported an after tax loss of Shs 501 million (2020: after tax loss of Shs 412 million
(restated)). The performance of the Company was as below:

i Gross written premium - The Company registered a growth of 19% in Gross Written Premium
attributed to Corporate and tender business booked during the year;

ii. Investment income — Shs 153 million registered as investment income primarily from Government
securities and bank deposit interest;

ifi. Claims — The business performance was negatively impacted by the high claims experience in motor
private and medical;

iv. Expenses — Shs 1,029 million registered as expenses to meet operational requirements; and

V. Commissions — Net of Shs 224 million paid out as commissions.

The Company continues to review its operational efficiencies to improve its performance. During the year
under review, the company reviewed its rates for the motor private class and exited from medical business
to focus on its core strength in non-medical insurance. This is part of the strategy the board and
management have commenced to ensure a return to profitability in the core business.

Key performance indicators

The table below highlights some of the key performance indicators over a period of 5 years.

Performance Indicators 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000

Restated

Underwriting profit/(loss) 40,892 40,928 (91,744) (570,169) (822,052)
Gross profit/(loss) (%) 5% 9% 1% -9% -14%
Claims loss ratio (%) 52% 51% 61% 57% 85%
Profit/(loss) before tax 102,368 193,622 23,042 (385,279) (668,951)
Net assets 763,518 | 1,040,111 1,044,532 632,176 131,264
Return on capital employed (%) 9% 11% 0% -37% -46%
Earnings per share (Shs) 0.44 0.56 0.02 (2.00) (2.43)

Dividend

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December

2021 (2020: Nil)

Directors

The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report are set out on page 1.




Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Report of the directors
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Report of the directors (continued)

Disclosures to the auditor

Each director in office at the time this report was approved confirms that:

(a) thereis so far as the director is aware, no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor is
unaware; and

(b) the director has taken all steps that the director ought to have taken as a director so as to be aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor

The auditor, KPMG Kenya, who were appointed during the year, have expressed their willingness to
continue in office in accordance with the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015.

The directors monitor the effectiveness, objectivity and independence of the auditor. This responsibility
includes the approval of the audit engagement contract which sets out the terms of the auditor's
appointment and the associated fees on behalf of the shareholders.

Going concern

The directors are aware of the following conditions:

i. During the year under review, the Company reported an after tax loss of Shs 501 million (2020 an after
tax loss of Shs 412 million). The cumulative losses as at 31 December 2021 was Shs 998 million (2020:
Shs 497million restated); and

ii. The Company is non-compliant with minimum regulatory solvency requirements of 100% as at 31
December 2021.

The following are the mitigation factors put in place by the directors to address the matters above:

i. The Company has received a Letter of Comfort from Sanlam Emerging Markets who indirectly own
41% of the shares of the Company. Sanlam Emerging Markets has committed to support the
Company with funding and other support over the next 12 months to make it possible for the Company
to meet its financial obligations;

i. Sanlam Emerging Markets has advanced a loan of Shs 1.085 billion to the Company to bridge the
capital shortfall in the interim until the Shareholders inject additional capital into the Company. The
Company received this subordinated debt on 5 May 2022 which restored the Capital Adequacy Ratio
to 100%. The Company received approval from the Insurance Regulatory Authority (IRA) to use this
debt in its solvency calculations; and

ii. The Company has projected to return to profitability by the year 2022, projecting after tax profit of Shs
207 million, which reflects the potential that the Company has and hence reaffirms the ability of the
Company to continue as a going concern. Management has put in place a turnaround strategy aimed
at improving the profitability, and hence the solvency position of the Company. The Company has
revamped the motor private business and also exited the medical business in the last quarter of 2021
so as to focus on its core strength in non-medical insurance.

The Directors have taken into account the initiatives above and are confident that the going concern
assumption is appropriate in the preparation of the financial statements. The financial statements have
therefore been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. The basis
assumes that the Company will continue as a going concern and also its operations for the foreseeable
future.



Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Report of the directors
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 were approved and
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 25 May 2022.

By order of the Board
Emma Wachira
Company Secretary

Date: .S Mm D> >



Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Statement of directors’ responsibilities
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements of Sanlam
General Insurance Limited set out on pages 12 to 62 which comprise the statements of financial position as
at 31 December 2021, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of
changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The Directors’ responsibilities include determining that the basis of preparation described in Note 2 as an
acceptable basis for preparing and presenting the financial statements in the circumstances, preparation and
presentation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in
the manner required by the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Under the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015, the Directors are required to prepare financial statements for each
financial year which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at the end of the
financial year and of the profit or loss of the Company for that year. It also requires the Directors to ensure
the Company keeps proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial
position and profit or loss of the Company.

The Directors accept responsibility for the financial statements, which have been prepared using appropriate
accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates, in conformity with
International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Kenyan Companies Act,
2015. The Directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of
the financial position of the Company and of its profit or loss.

The Directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance of accounting records which may be relied
upon in the preparation of financial statements, as well as adequate systems of internal financial control.

The directors are aware of the following conditions:

i.  During the year under review, the Company reported an after tax loss of Shs 500 million (2020 an
after tax loss of Shs 412 million). The cumulative losses as at 31 December 2021 was Shs 998 million
(2020: Shs 497 million restated); and

ii. The Company is non-compliant with minimum regulatory solvency requirements of 100% as at 31
December 2021.

The following are the mitigation factors put in place by the directors to address the matters above:

i.  The Company has received a letter of Comfort from Sanlam Emerging Markets who indirectly own
41% of the shares of the Company. Sanlam Emerging Markets has committed to support the
Company with funding and other support over the next 12 months to make it possible for the Company
to meet its financial obligations;

i. Sanlam Emerging Markets has advanced a loan of Shs 1.085 billion to the Company to bridge the
capital shortfall in the interim until the Shareholders inject additional capital into the Company. The
Company received this subordinated debt on 5 May 2022 which restored the Capital Adequacy ratio
to 100%. The Company received approval from the Insurance Regulatory Authority (IRA) to use this
debt in its solvency calculations; and

ii. The Company has projected to return to profitability by the year 2022, projecting an after tax profit of
Shs 207 million, which reflects the potential that the Company has and hence reaffirms the ability of
the Company to continue as a going concern. Management has put in place a turnaround strategy
aimed at improving the profitability, and hence the solvency position of the Company. The Company
has revamped the motor private business and also exited the medical business in the last quarter of
2021 so as to focus on its core strength in non-medical insurance.

The Directors have taken into account the initiatives above and are confident that the going concern
assumption is appropriate in the preparation of the financial statements. The financial statements have
therefore been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. The basis
assumes that the Company will continue as a going concern and aiso its operations for the foreseeable
future.
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities (continued)
Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements, as indicated above, were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 25 May 2022.

Gs?
Christi y Dr. Jackspri Maingi
Date: Q.S M«C)'a«b@"-— Date: vul.t) Do



Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Report of the consulting actuary
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Report of the consulting actuary

| have conducted an actuarial valuation of the general business of Sanlam General Insurance Limited as
at 31 December 2021. ‘

The valuation was conducted in accordance with generally accepted actuarial principles and in accordance
with the requirements of the Insurance Act Cap 487 of the Laws of Kenya. These principles require that
prudent provision for future outgo under contracts, generally based upon the assumptions that current
conditions will continue. Provision is therefore not made for all possible contingencies.

In completing the actuarial valuation, | have relied upon the financial statements of the Company.

In my opinion, the general business of the Company was financially sound and the actuarial value of the

liabilities in respect of all the classes of general business did not exceed the amount of outstanding claims
liabilities of the general business at 31 December 2021.

James Olubayi
Zamara Actuaries, Administrators & Consultants Limited

Date: 27t May 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TOTHE MEMBERS OF THE SANLAM GENERAL INSURANCE LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Sanlam General Insurance Limited (the Company) set out on
pages 12 to 62 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of financial position of
Sanlam General Insurance Limited as at 31 December 2021 and of its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and
in the manner required by the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements, section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Kenya, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as awhole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

8
KPMG Kenya is a registered partnership and a member firm Partners  BC D'Souza  BM Ndung'u
of the KPMG global organization of independent member JM Gathecha JM Ndunyu
firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private Ji Kariuki S Obock
English company limrted by guarantee PI Kinuthia
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TOTHE MEMBERS OF THE SANLAM GENERAL INSURANCE LIMITED

(CONTINUED)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Insurance contract liabilities

See accounting policy Note 2 (c) and Note

24 to the financial statements

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Company’s insurance contract liabilities

Our audit procedures in this area included:

represent 47% of its total liabilities.

Valuation of these liabilities is highly
judgmental and requires a number of
assumptions to be made that have high
estimation uncertainty. This is particularly
the case for those liabilities that are
recognized in respect of claims that have
occurred but have not yet been reported to | _
the Company (incurred but not reported
(IBNRY)).

Small changes in the assumptions used to
value the liabilities, particularly those relating | —
to the amount and timing of future claims,
can lead to material impacts on the valuation
of insurance liabilities.

The key assumptions that drive the
determination of insurance contract liabilities
(reserving calculations) include loss ratios,
claim expense assumptions and claim
development factors. The valuation of
insurance contract liabilities depends on
accurate data about the volume, amount and
pattern of current and historical claims since | —
they are often used to form expectations
about future claims. If the data used in
calculating insurance liabilities, or for
forming judgments over key assumptions, is
not complete and accurate then material
impacts on the valuation of insurance | _
liabilities may arise. We determined the
valuation of insurance contract liabilities to
be a key audit matter due to the high degree
of estimation uncertainty and significant
judgement applied by the company in the
determination of the reported amounts

Obtaining an understanding of the claims handling
and reserve setting process and the controls used in
the determination of insurance contract liabilities.
This included assessing the design and operating
effectiveness of key controls over the claims
handling and reserve setting processes of the
Company.

Inspecting claims received and claims paid
immediately after 31 December 2021 to assess
whether there were any unrecorded insurance
contract liabilities at the end of the period;

Evaluating a sample of outstanding claims reserves
by comparing the estimated amount of the reserve
to appropriate documentation, such as reports from
loss adjusters to ascertain accuracy of the recorded
amounts;

Re-performing reconciliations between the data
recorded in the financial reporting systems and the
data used in the actuarial reserving calculations
including selecting a sample of the data and
comparing to the policy documents to ensure its
complete and accurate;

Evaluating the appropriateness of management’s
liability adequacy testing by assessing the historical
IBNR sufficiency as well as the Unexpired Risk
Reserve through performing an actual vs expected
analysis on prior years’ reserves for any surpluses
or shortfalls;

Using our internal actuarial specialists to assist us in
assessing the appropriateness of the methodology
and the reasonableness of the assumptions used
by management in the estimation of reserves at 31
December 2021; and

Evaluating the adequacy of disclosures in the
financial statements including disclosures of key
estimates and judgements on insurance contract
liabilities in accordance with the requirements of
IFRS 4 Insurance contracts.

Emphasis of matter — Comparative information

We draw attention to Note 30 to the financial statements which indicates that the comparative
information presented as at and for the year ended 31 December 2020 has been restated. Our opinion

is not modified in respect of this matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TOTHE THE SANLAM GENERAL INSURANCE LIMITED

(CONTINUED)
Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Other matter related to comparative information

The financial statements of Sanlam General Insurance Limited as at and for the year ended 31 December
2020, excluding the adjustments described in Note 30 to the financial statements were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements on 26 March 2021.

As part of our audit of the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021, we audited
the adjustments described in Note 30 that were applied to restate the comparative information presented
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2020.

We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the financial statements for the years
ended 31 December 2020, other than with respect to the adjustments described in Note 30 to the financial
statements. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on those respective
financial statements taken as a whole. However, in our opinion, the adjustments described in Note 30 are
appropriate and have been properly applied.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the information
included in the Sanlam General Insurance Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon, other than that prescribed by the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015, as
set out below.

in connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs and in the manner required by the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015 and for such
internal control, as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

10
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

JO THE MEMBERS OF THE SANLAM GENERAL INSURANCE LIMITED (CONTINUED)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional Judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditicns may cause the the Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial stziemenis represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentatio:.

We communicate with the direciors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including =iy significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in exiremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

As required by the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015, we report to you based on our audit, that in our opinion
the information given in the report of the directors on page 2 to 4 is consistent with the financial statements.

The engagement partner responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is CPA
Alexander Mbai - P/2172.

For and on behalf of:

KPMG Kenya

Certified Public Accountants
P O Box 40612 — 00100, GPO
Nairobi

Date: 27 May 2022 .
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Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2021

Gross written premium

Gross earned premium
Less: Reinsurance premium ceded to reinsurers

Net earned premium

Investment and other income
Commissions earned

Total income

Claims incurred

Less: Amounts recoverable from reinsurers
Net claims incurred

Operating and other expenses
Commissions payable

Total expenses

Loss before income tax
Income tax credit/(expense)

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income; net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year
*See Note 30 for restatements.

Note

10

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020
*Restated

Shs'000 Shs'000
4,853,903 4,066,095
4,672,756 3,741,095
(1,721,933) (1,694,335)
2,950,823 2,046,760
153,101 184,890
373,002 365,399
3,476,926 2,597,049
3,655,253 2,225,238
(1,135,701) (1,057,590)
2,519,552 1,167,648
1,029,238 1,346,656
597,087 468,024
4,145,877 2,982,328
(668,951) (385,279)
168,039 (27,077)
(500,912) (412,356)
(500,912) (412,356)

The notes on pages 16 to 62 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
At 31 December 2021

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021

31 December

2021 2020
Note Shs'000 Shs'000
Capital employed *Restated
Share capital 11 1,028,998 1,028,998
Share premium 11 100,362 100,362
Accumulated losses (998,096) (497,184)
-Shareholders’ funds 131,264 632,176
Assets
Property and equipment 12 (a) 64,121 77,748
Right of use assets 12 (b) 39,0562 53,875
Intangible assets 13 1,007 4,840
Deferred tax asset 14 309,583 141,544
Investment property 15 50,000 70,000
Quoted equity investments at fair value through profit
or loss 16 516 547
Receivables arising out of reinsurance arrangements 17 (a) 212,733 263,690
Receivables arising out of direct insurance
arrangement 17 (b) 216,080 362,924
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 18 1,143,154 1,234,846
Other receivables 19 87,142 38,525
Deferred acquisitions cost 20 243,969 198,477
Government securities at fair value through profit or
loss 21 1,817,506 1,524,439
Secured loans to employees 22 194 312
Current income tax 10 152,130 42,671
Deposits with financial institutions 23 171,100 186,555
Cash and bank balances 23 159,129 86,268
4,667,416 4,287,261
Liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities 24 2,146,881 1,373,344
Unearned premium reserve 25 1,965,924 1,847,958
Creditors arising from reinsurance arrangements 93,079 64,607
Deferred reinsurance commissions 26 111,209 119,189
Lease liabilities 12 (b) 51,211 65,111
Other payables 27 167,848 184,876
Total liabilities 4,536,152 3,655,085
Net assets 131,264 632,176

*See Note 30 for restatements.

The financial statements on pages 12 to 62 were approved and authorized for, issue by the board of
directors ory25 May 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

)
f@" O~ = /’D

ChristifeNg"anga — Dr. Jacksin'Maingi

Date: 2% N\oO 8 -Y By W Date: MGJ DD A A

The notes on pages 16 to 62 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2021

Operating activities

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Interest received

Net cash generated from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of investment property
Purchase of government securities
Disposal of government securities
Proceeds from secured loans

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities

Net cash used in financing activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents

At start of year
Effects of changes in exchange rates

At end of year

*See Note 30 for restatements.

Note

29
10

12 (a)

21
21

12 (b)

23

2021 2020
Shs '000 Shs 000
*Restated

320,397 135,494
(109,459) (35,718)
178,794 99,370
389,732 199,146
(4,040) (6,056)

- 420,000
(345,809) (583,397)
27,770 -
118 189
(321,961) (169,264)
( 23,984) ( 22,423)
( 23,984) ( 22,423)
43,787 7,459
272,823 253,365
13,619 11,999
330,229 272,823

The notes on pages 16 to 62 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes to the financial statements (hereafter “Notes”)
1. General Information

Sanlam General Insurance Limited is incorporated in Kenya under the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015 as a
private limited liability Company and is domiciled in Kenya. The address of the registered office is included in
page 1.

The Company transacts all classes of general insurance business except for Aviation and Micro-insurance.

For Kenyan Companies Act, 2015 reporting purposes, the balance sheet is represented by the statement of
financial position and the profit and loss account by the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in these financial statements.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

a) Basis of preparation

The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and in the manner required by the Kenyan Companies, Act, 2015. The
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss and investment properties which have been measured at fair
value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise judgment in the process of applying the
Company’s accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial
statements in the period the assumptions changed. The directors believe that the underlying assumptions
are appropriate and that the Company’s financial statements therefore present the financial position and
results fairly. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

Going concern

The financial performance of the Company is set out in the Director’s report and in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. The financial position of the Company is set out in the statement
of financial position and disclosures in respect of risk management are set out in Note 4.

The directors are aware of the following conditions:

i.  During the year under review, the Company reported an after tax loss of Shs 500 million (2020 an after
tax loss of Shs 412 million). The cumulative losses as at 31 December 2021 was Shs 998 million
(2020: Shs 497 million restated)); and

ii. The Company is non-compliant with minimum regulatory solvency requirements of 100% as at 31
December 2021.

The following are the mitigation factors put in place by the directors to address the matters above:

i.  The Company has received a Letter of Comfort from Sanlam Emerging Markets who indirectly own
41% of the shares of the Company. Sanlam Emerging Markets has committed to support the Company
with funding and other support over the next 12 months to make it possible for the Company to meet
its financial obligations;

ii. Sanlam Emerging Markets has advanced a loan of Shs 1.085 billion to the Company to bridge the
capital shortfall in the interim until the Shareholders inject additional capital into the Company. The
Company received this subordinated debt on 5 May 2022 which restored the Capital Adequacy Ratio
to 100%. The Company received approval from the Insurance Regulatory Authority (IRA) to use this
debt in its solvency calculations; and

ii. The Company has projected to return to profitability by the year 2022, projecting an after tax profit of
Shs 207 million, which reflects the potential that the Company has and hence reaffirms the ability of
the Company to continue as a going concern. Management has put in place a turnaround strategy
aimed at improving the profitability, and hence the solvency position of the Company. The Company
has revamped the motor private business and also exited the medical business in the last quarter of
2021 so as to focus on its core strength in non-medical insurance.
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Notes (continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a) Basis of preparation (continued)

The Directors have taken into account the initiatives above and are confident that the going concern
assumption is appropriate in the preparation of the financial statements. The financial statements have
therefore been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. The basis
assumes that the Company will continue as a going concern and also its operations for the foreseeable

future.

b) Changes in accounting policy and

disclosures

i.  New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Company

The following standards have been issued but do not have a material impact on the Company.

Number

Effective date

Executive summary

Amendments to IFRS 9 ‘Financial
Instruments’, IAS 39 ‘Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’, IFRS 7 ‘Financial
Instruments: Disclosures’, IFRS 4

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2021

The Phase 2 amendments address issues
that arise from the implementation of the
reform of an interest rate benchmark,
including the replacement of one benchmark
with an alternative one.

Concessions beyond 30 June
2021 (Amendment to IFRS 16)

‘Insurance Contracts' and IFRS 16 (Published

‘Leases’ — interest rate benchmark | August 2020)

(IBOR) reform (Phase 2)

COVID-19-Related Rent| 1 April 2021 The objective of the amendment is to provide

lessees that have been granted Covid 19
related rent concessions by lessors with
practical relief, while still providing useful
information about leases to users of the
financial statements.

ii)  New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective

The following standards have been issued but are not mandatory for the 31 December 2021 reporting

periods.

Number

Effective date

Executive summary

Amendment to IAS 1
‘Presentation of
Financial Statements’
on Classification of
Liabilities as Current
or Non-current

Annual periods
beginning on or after
1 January 2022

(Published January
2020)

The amendment clarifies that liabilities are classified
as either current or non-current, depending on the
rights that exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification is unaffected by expectations of the
entity or events after the reporting date (for example,
the receipt of a waiver or a breach of covenant).

Amendments to IAS
16 ‘Property, Plant
and Equipment’ on
Proceeds before
Intended Use

Annual periods
beginning on or after
1 January 2022
(Published May
2020)

The amendment to IAS 16 prohibits an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of PPE any
proceeds received from selling items produced while
the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use
(for example, the proceeds from selling samples
produced when testing a machine to see if it is
functioning properly). The proceeds from selling such
items, together with the costs of producing them, are
recognized in profit or loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

i) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective — continued

Number

Effective date

Executive summary

Amendments to IAS
37 ‘Provisions,
Contingent
Liabilities and
Contingent Assets’
on Onerous
Contracts—Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2022

(Published May
2020)

The amendment clarifies which costs an entity includes in
assessing whether a contract will be loss-making. This
assessment is made by considering unavoidable costs,
which are the lower of the net cost of exiting the contract
and the costs to fulfil the contract. The amendment clarifies
the meaning of ‘costs to fulfil a contract. Under the
amendment, costs to fulfil a contract include incremental
costs and the allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling the contract.

Annual
improvements cycle
2018 -2020

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2022

(Published May
2020)

These amendments include minor changes to:

¢ IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ has been amended to
include only those costs or fees paid between the
borrower and the lender in the calculation of “the 10%
test” for derecognition of a financial liability. Fees paid
to third parties are excluded from this calculation.

e [FRS 16, ‘Leases’, amendment to the lllustrative
Example 13 that accompanies IFRS 16 to remove the
illustration of payments from the lessor relating to
leasehold improvements. The amendment intends to
remove any potential confusion about the treatment of
lease incentives.

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance
contracts’

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2023

Early application is
permitted for
entities that apply
IFRS 9, ‘Financial
Instruments’, and
IFRS 15, ‘Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers’, at or
before the date of
initial application of
IFRS 17.

(Published May
2017)

The IASB issued [IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’, and
thereby started a new epoch of accounting for insurers.
Whereas the current standard, IFRS 4, allows insurers to
use their local GAAP, IFRS 17 defines clear and consistent
rules that will significantly increase the comparability of
financial statements. For insurers, the transition to IFRS 17
will have an impact on financial statements and on key
performance indicators.

Under IFRS 17, the general model requires entities to
measure an insurance contract at initial recognition at the
total of the fulfilment cash flows (comprising the estimated
future cash flows, an adjustment to reflect the time value of
money and an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk)
and the contractual service margin. The fulfiilment cash
flows are remeasured on a current basis each reporting
period. The unearned profit (contractual service margin) is
recognized over the coverage period.

A side from this general model, the standard provides, as a
simplification, the premium allocation approach. This
simplified approach is applicable for certain types of
contract, including those with a coverage period of one year
or less.

18




Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

ii) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective — continued

Number Effective date Executive summary

For insurance contracts with direct participation
features, the variable fee approach applies. The
variable fee approach is a variation on the general
model. When applying the variable fee approach, the
entity’s share of the fair value changes of the underlying
items is included in the contractual service margin.
Consequently, the fair value changes are not
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they
occur but over the remaining life of the contract.

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance | Annual periods | In response to some of the concerns and challenges
contracts’ beginning on or after 1 | raised, the Board developed targeted amendments and
Amendments January 2023 several proposed clarifications intended to ease

implementation of IFRS 17, simplify some requirements
(Published June 2020) | of the standard and ease transition. The amendments
are not intended to change the fundamental principles
of the standard or unduly disrupt implementation which
is already underway.

The Directors do not plan to apply the above standards, until they become effective. Based on their
assessment of the potential impact of application of the above, only IFRS 17 is expected to have a
significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. The company is still assessing the impact of
adoption of IFRS 17.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact
on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on near future transactions.

¢) Insurance contracts
Premium income

For general insurance business, premium income is recognized on assumption of risk, and includes
estimated premiums due but not yet received, less an allowance for cancellations, and less unearned
premium. Unearned premium represent the proportion of the premium written in periods up to the
accounting date that relates to the unexpired terms of policies in force at the reporting date and is
computed using the 1/365th method. Premiums are shown before deduction of commission and are gross
of any taxes or duties levied on premiums.

Claims payable

Claims incurred comprise claims paid in the year and changes in the provision for outstanding claims.
Claims paid represent all payments made during the year, whether arising from events during that or
earlier years. Outstanding claims represent the estimated ultimate cost of settling all claims arising from
incidents occurring prior to the reporting date, but not settled at that date.

Outstanding claims are computed on the basis of the best information available at the time the records
for the year are closed and include provisions for claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) at the end of
each reporting period based on the Company’s experience. Outstanding claims are not discounted. The
Company has used the Loss Reserving Triangle model to develop estimates of expected claims
outstanding.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
¢) Insurance contracts — continued

Liability adequacy tests

At each reporting date, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy of the contract
liabilities. In performing these tests, current best estimates of future contractual cash flows and claims
handling and administration expenses, as well as investments income from the assets backing such
liabilities, are used. Any deficiency is immediately charged to profit or loss.

Commissions

Commissions payable are recognized in the period in which the related premiums are written.
Commissions receivable are recognized as income in the period in which they are earned.

Reinsurance contracts held

Contracts entered into by the Company with reinsurers under which the Company is compensated for
losses on one or more contracts issued by the Company and that meet the classification requirements for
insurance contracts are classified as reinsurance contracts held. Contracts that do not meet these
classifications requirements are classified as financial assets. Insurance contracts entered into by the
Company under which the contract holder is another insurer (inwards reinsurance) are included with
insurance contracts.

The benefits to which the Company is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognized as
reinsurance assets. These assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers, as well as long term
receivables that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising under the related reinsured
insurance contracts. Amount recovered from or due to reinsurers is measured consistently with the
amounts associated with the reinsured insurance contracts and in accordance with the terms of each
reinsurance contract. Reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and
are recognized as an expense when due.

The Company assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on quarterly basis. If there is objective
evidence that the reinsurance asset is impaired, the Company reduces the carrying amount of the
reinsurance assets to its recoverable amount and recognizes that impairment loss in the profit or loss.
The Company gathers the objective evidence that a reinsurance asset is impaired using the same process
adopted for financial assets held at amortized cost.

Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts

Receivables and payables are recognized when due. These include amounts due to and from agents,
brokers and insurance contract holders. The Company assesses the receivable for impairment by
reducing the carrying amount of the insurance receivables and recognizes that impairment loss in the
profit or loss. The expected credit loss is calculated using the simplified approach as detailed under the
financial assets note.

Salvage and subrogation reimbursements

Some insurance contracts permit the Company to sell (usually damaged) property acquired in settling a
claim (for example, salvage). The Company may also have the right to pursue third parties for payment
of some or all costs (for example, subrogation).

Estimates of salvage recoveries are included as an allowance in the measurement of the insurance liability
claims, and salvage property is recognized in other assets when the liability is settled. The allowance is
the amount that can reasonably be recovered from the disposal of the property.

Subrogation reimbursements are also considered as allowance in the measurement of the insurance

liability for claims and are recognized in other assets when the liability is settled. The allowance is the
assessment of the amount that can be recovered from the action against the liable third party.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
d) Investment and other income

Investment income comprises (i) Interest income (ii) Dividend income (iii) Rental income; and (iv)
realized/unrealized gains and losses. Investment income is stated net of investment expenses.

* Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis that takes into account the effective yield on
the assets.

* Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis, apart from operating leases that contain fixed
escalation clauses, where it is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The excess of
rental income on a straight-line over cash received is recognised as part of the carrying amount of
properties in the statement of financial position.

» Divided income is recognised when the shareholders right to receive payment has been established.

* Realised/unrealised gains and losses recorded in the statement of profit or loss on investments include
gains and losses on financial assets and investment properties. Gains and losses on the sale of
investments are calculated as the difference between net sales proceeds and the original or amortised
cost and are recorded on occurrence of the sale transaction.

e) Property and equipment

All property and equipment is initially recorded at cost and thereafter stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost comprises expenditure initially incurred to bring the assets to its location and
condition ready for its intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write down the cost of each asset, to its residual value
over its estimated useful life as follows:

Office equipment, furniture and fittings 8 years
Motor vehicles 4 years
Generator 4 years

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount,
it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognized in the statement
of comprehensive income.

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment is determined by reference to their carrying amount
and are taken into account in determining operating profit/(loss).

f) Investment properties

Investment properties are long-term investments in land and buildings that are not occupied substantially
for own use and hence held for capital appreciation and/ or to earn rentals. Investment properties are initially
recognized at cost and subsequently measured at fair value representing market value determined annually
by independent external registered valuers. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit and loss.

On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount is credited to profit or loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

g) Financial assets
(i) Classification and impairment of financial assets
The Company classifies its financial assets into the following measurement categories;

» those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL);
» those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI); and
e those to be measured at amortised cost.

(ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date, the date on which the
Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when the right to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Company has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s
perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on:
(i) the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets; and
(ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Company classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three
measurement categories:

» Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in investment income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognized directly in profit or loss and presented in other
gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

FVTOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVTOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognized
in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognized in other gains/losses. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/losses and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
g) Financial assets (continued)

(iii) Measurement (continued)

e FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognized in profit or
loss and presented net within other gains/losses in the period in which it arises.

Equity Instruments

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at FVTPL. Where the Company’s
management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment.

Dividends from such investments continue to be recognized in profit or loss as other income when the
Company’s right to receive payments is established.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Where the asset is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is reclassified to retained earnings.

Dividends earned are recognized in the profit or loss statement and are included in the ‘investment income’
line item. There was no dividend income recognized during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Shs
Nil). The Company’s assets in the FVTOCI category had a total carrying value of Shs Nil as at 31
December 2021 (2020: Shs Nil).

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognized in investment income in the
statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVTOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Equity securities (quoted), government securities and deposits with financial institutions are classified at
fair value through profit or loss. The Company’s assets at FVTPL at the end of the year were Shs.
1,989,122,000 (2020: Shs. 1,711,541,000 (restated)).

(iv) Determination of fair value

For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determination of fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. This includes listed equity
securities and quoted debt instruments on major exchanges (Nairobi Securities Exchange). The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the current bid price.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. If the above
criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being inactive.

For example, a market is inactive when there is a wide bid-offer spread or significant increase in the bid-
offer spread or there are few recent transactions.

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. In these techniques,
fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments, using models to
estimate the present value of expected future cash flows or other valuation techniques, using inputs
existing at the dates of the statement of financial position.
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g) Financial assets (continued)

(iv) Determination of fair value — continued

Fair values are categorized into three levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the degree to which the inputs
to the measurement are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety:

¢ Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

e Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices).

e Level 3 fair value-measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized by the Company at the end of the
reporting period during which the change occurred.

(v) Impairment

The Company assesses the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortized
cost and FVTOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

The impairment model applies to the following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:
Receivables arising from reinsurance arrangements;

Receivables arising from direct insurance arrangements;

Rent and other receivables;

Corporate bonds;

Secured loans to employees;

Deposits with financial institutions; and

Cash and bank balances.

No impairment loss is recognized on equity investments and financial assets measured at FVTPL.

The Company recognizes loss allowance at an amount equal to either 12-month ECLs or lifetime ECLs.
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument, whereas 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date.

The Company recognises loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except in the following
cases, for which the amount recognized will be 12-month ECLs:

« Debt instruments that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. The Company will
consider a debt instrument to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally
understood definition of ‘investment-grade’ and investments in government securities; and

+ Other financial instruments (other than trade and lease receivables) for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for most of the financial assets have been measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
The impairment requirements of IFRS 9 require management judgement, estimates and assumptions,
particularly in the following areas, which are discussed in detail below:

+ assessing whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition;
and incorporating forward-looking information into the measurement of ECLs.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

g) Financial assets (continued)

(v) Impairment — continued

Measurement of expected credit losses

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses and will be measured as follows:

.

financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: the present value of all cash shortfalls
— i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Company expects to receive;

financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

An asset is credit-impaired if one or more events have occurred that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the asset.

Expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are computed as a product of the Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD)
and the Exposure at Default (EAD).

ECL = PD x LGD x EAD

In applying the IFRS 9 impairment requirements, the Company follows one of the approaches below:

The general approach
The simplified approach

The Company applies the approaches below to each of its assets subject to impairment under IFRS 9:

Financial asset Impairment approach
Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements Simplified approach
Rent and intercompany receivables General approach
Corporate bonds General approach
Secured loans to employees General approach
Cash and bank balances General approach

The General Approach

Under the general approach, at each reporting date, the Company determines whether the financial asset is
in one of the three stages below, to determine both the amount of ECL to recognise as well as how interest
income should be recognized.

Stage 1 - where credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition. For financial assets in
stage 1, the Company will recognise 12 month ECL and recognise interest income on a gross basis —
this means that interest will be calculated on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset before
adjusting for ECL.

Stage 2 - where credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. When a financial asset
transfers to stage 2, the Company will recognise lifetime ECL, but interest income will continue to be
recognhized on a gross basis.

Stage 3 - where the financial asset is credit impaired. This is effectively the point at which there has
been an incurred loss event. For financial assets in stage 3, the Company will continue to recognise
lifetime ECL but they will now recognise interest income on a net basis. As such, interest income will be
calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset less ECL.
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(v) Impairment (continued)

The General Approach — continued
The changes in the loss allowance balance are recognized in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

The Simplified approach

Under the simplified approach, the Company measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses.

Definition of default

The Company will consider a financial asset to be in default when:

e the counterparty or borrower is unlikely to pay their credit obligations to the Company in full, without
recourse by the Company to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

o the counterparty or borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the
Company. This will be consistent with the rebuttable criteria set out by IFRS 9 and existing practice of
the Company.

In assessing whether the counterparty or borrower is in default, the Company considers indicators that are:

o Qualitative: e.g. Breach of covenant and other indicators of financial distress;

e Quantitative: e.g. Overdue status and non-payment of another obligation of the same issuer to the
Company; and

s Based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary
over time to reflect changes in circumstances.

Significant increase in credit risk (SIICR)

When determining whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis based on the Company’s historical experience, expert credit assessment and forward-looking
information.

The Company primarily identifies whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an exposure by
comparing:

e The remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date; with
e The remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated on initial recognition of the exposure.

The assessment of significant deterioration is key in establishing the point of switching between the
requirement to measure an allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses and one that is based on
lifetime expected credit losses.

The Company monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in credit risk
by regular reviews to confirm that:

o the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure is in default;

e the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30 days past due;

o the average time between the identification of a significant increase in credit risk and default appears
reasonable;

e exposures are not generally transferred from 12-month ECL measurement to credit-impaired; and

e there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month and lifetime ECL
measurements.
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(v) Impairment (continued)

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Company incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of
an instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. It formulates a
'base case' view of the future direction of relevant economic variables and a representative range of other
possible forecast scenarios based on advice from the Company risk committee and economic experts and
consideration of a variety of external actual and forecast information. This process involves developing two or
more additional economic scenarios and considering the relative probabilities of each outcome. External
information includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and monetary authorities.

The base case represents a best estimate and is aligned with information used by the Company for other
purposes, such as strategic planning and budgeting. The other scenarios represent more optimistic and more
pessimistic outcomes. The Company also periodically carries out stress-testing of more extreme shocks to
calibrate its determination of these other representative scenarios.

Measurement of ECL

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Company derives the EAD from the
current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract,
including amortization, and prepayments. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for financial assets for which credit
risk has not significantly increased, the Company measures ECL considering the risk of default over the
maximum contractual period (including any borrower's extension options) over which it is exposed to credit
risk, even if, for risk management purposes, the Company considers a longer period. Where modelling of a
parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared
risk characteristics, which include: instrument type; credit risk gradings; collateral type; date of initial
recognition; remaining term to maturity; industry; and geographic location of the borrower.

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a group remain appropriately
homogeneous.

When ECL are measured using parameters based on collective modelling, a significant input into the
measurement of ECL is the external benchmark information that the Company uses to derive the default
rates of its portfolios. This includes the PDs provided by rating agencies.

Insurance receivables

The ECL of operating lease receivables are determined using a provision matrix. Loss rates are calculated with
reference to days past due and actual credit loss experience over the past five years.

(vi) Modification of contracts

The Company rarely renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of securities. When this
happens, the Company assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original
terms. The Company does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

+  If the counterparty is in financial difficulty

+  Whether any substantial new terms are introduced that affect the risk profile of the instrument

+  Significant extension of the contract term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty

+  Significant change in interest rate

+  Change in the currency the security is denominated in

+ Inclusion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk
associated with the contract.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
g) Financial assets (continued)
(vi) Modification of contracts — continued

If the terms are substantially different, the Company derecognizes the original financial asset and recognizes
a ‘new’ asset at fair value and recalculates a new EIR for the asset. The date of recognition is consequently
considered the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including the purpose of
determining whether a SIICR has occurred.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition,
and the Company recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial
asset and recognizes a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original EIR.

(vii) Write off policy

The Company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part when it has exhausted all practical recovery effort
and has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement activity; and (ii) the Company is foreclosing on
collateral and the value of the collateral is such as there is no reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

The Company may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity if there is no
reasonable expectation of recoverability. The outstanding contractual amounts of such assets written off
during the year ended 31 December 2021 was Kshs Nil (2020: Nil). The Company still seeks to recover
amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable expectation
of full recovery.

h) Leases

On the commencement date of each lease (excluding leases with a term, on commencement, of 12 months
or less and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value) the Company recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid on that date. The
lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Company's incremental borrowing rate is used. The incremental borrowing rate is the internal
cost of debt determined as the risk free borrowing rate adjusted for country premium.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost comprising the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any lease payments made on or before the commencement date, any initial direct costs incurred, and an
estimate of the costs of restoring the underlying asset to the condition required under the terms of the lease.

Subsequently the lease liability is measured at amortised cost, subject to re-measurement to reflect any
reassessment, lease modifications, or revised fixed lease payments.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of each asset to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. If ownership of the underlying asset is not expected to pass to the
Company at the end of the lease term, the estimated useful life would not exceed the lease term.

For leases with a term, on commencement, of 12 months or less and leases for which the underlying asset is
of low value, the total lease payments are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
period.
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i) Financial liabilities

The Company’s financial liabilities which include borrowings, trade and other payables and lease liabilities
fall into the following categories:

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: these are initially measured at fair value and
subsequent measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the
loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of
the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised
over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor
to extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, which
is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the
equity instruments issued.

All financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or expired.

j) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or realize the assets and settle the liability simultaneously.

k) Impairment of non-financial assets and tangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of tangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested for impairment
annually.

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’'s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identified cash flows (cash-generating units).

Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting period.
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I) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three month
or less, and bank overdrafts.

m) Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The financial statements are presented
in Kenya Shillings rounded to the nearest thousand (Shs '000) which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Translation of foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuations where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit or loss within ‘other income or expenses’.

n) Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is probable that an overflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions for future opening
losses are not recognized.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an overflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the
likelihood of an overflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligation may be small.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the present value of expenditures expected to
be incurred to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessment of time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time
is recognized as interest expense in profit or loss under finance cost.

o) Employee benefits
(i) Retirement benefit obligations

The Company operates a defined contribution scheme for employees. The assets of the scheme are held in
separate trustee administered funds, which are funded from contributions from both the Company’s and
employees. The Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods. The employees of the Company are also members of the National Social Security Fund
(“NSSF”).

The Company’s contributions to the defined contribution scheme and NSSF are charged to profit or loss in
the year to which they relate.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
o) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Other entitlements

The estimated monetary liability for employees accrued annual leave entitlement at the reporting date is
recognized as an expense accrual.

p) Income tax expense

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax. Tax is recognized in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

(i} Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. The directors periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. They establish provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(ii) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, if the
deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not
accounted for. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realized, or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same entity.

q) Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life amortization methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Computer software

Computer software licences are capitalized on basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives which are estimated to be 5 (five)
years.

Cost associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognized as an expense as incurred.
Cost that are directly associated with the acquisition of identifiable and unique software products controlled by
the Company, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding cost beyond one year, are
recognized as intangible assets.
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r) Dividends
Dividends on ordinary shares are charged to equity in the period in which they are declared.
s) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any premium received over and above the par value
of the shares is classified as ‘share premium’ in equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are shown in equity as deduction
from the proceeds.

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical
experiences and other factors, including expected future events that are believed be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The estimation of future benefit payments from general insurance contracts is the Company’s most critical
accounting estimate. There are several sources of uncertainty that need to be considered in the estimate of
the liability that the Company will ultimately pay such claims. The determination of the liabilities under insurance
contracts is dependent on estimates made by the Company. Estimates are made as to the expected amounts
of claim to be paid in future.

Judgment is also applied in the estimation of future contractual cash flows in relation to reported losses and
losses incurred but not reported. There are several sources of uncertainty that need to be considered in the
estimate of the ability that the Company will ultimately pay for such claims. Care estimates are computed on
the basis of the best information available at the time the records for the year are closed.

The directors have made the following assumptions that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

The valuation of insurance contract liabilities;
Fair valuation of certain financial assets;

Fair values of investment properties;
Classification of financial assets; and
Impairment of financial assets.

Impairment of financial assets - the Company reviews their portfolio of financial assets measured at
amortized cost on an annual basis. A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the
accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

¢ Determining the criteria for significant increase in credit risk;
Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;
Establishing the number and relative weightings for a forward-looking scenarios for each type of product
/market and associated ECL; and

¢ Establishing groups of similar assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.

Fair value measurement and valuation process- in estimating the fair value of the assets or a liability, the
Company uses market-observed data to the extent it is available. Where level 1 inputs are not available, the
Company makes use of financial models or engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.
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Right of use asset and lease liabilities — in determining the applicable discount rate on present value of
the lease liabilities, the directors’ assumptions are based on the risk free rate together with inflation rate,
country risk and market premium.

Income taxes — in determining the provision for income taxes, there are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during ordinary course of business. The company
recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provision in the period in which such
determination is made.

4. Management of insurance and financial risk

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of risk, including insurance risk and financial risk (credit risk,
and the effect of changes in debt and equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest
rates). The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the identification and management of
risks and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on its financial performance, by use of underwriting
guidelines and capacity limits, reinsurance planning, credit policy governing the acceptance of clients, and
defined criteria for the approval of intermediaries and reinsurers. Investment policies are in place which
help manage liquidity and seek to maximize return within an acceptable level of interest rate risk.

This section summarizes the way the Company manages key risks.
A. Insurance risk

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty
of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and
therefore unpredictable.

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning,
the principal risk that the Company faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit
payments exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency
of severity of claims and benefits are greater than estimated. Insurance events are random, and the actual
number and number of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the level established using
statistical techniques.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative
variability about the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is likely to be affected
across the board by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Company has developed its insurance
underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risk accepted and within each of these categories to
achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome.

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk,
geographical location and type of industry covered.
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4. Management of insurance and financial risk (continued)

A. Insurance risk (continued)

The following tables disclose the concentration of insurance liabilities by the class of business represented
by the maximum insured loss:

Year ended 31

December 2021

Motor

Fire

Personal accident

Others

Total

Maximum Insured Loss

Shs 15 - Shs 250 -

Shs 0-15m 250m 1000m Total

000’ 000’ 000’ 000’

Gross 164,295,266 212,264,579 19,980,729 396,540,574
Net 33,484,000 13,834,000 82,000 47,400,000
Gross 16,184,861 150,355,965 58,316,003 224,856,919
Net 14,853,670 110,980,977 15,588,107 141,422,754
Gross 548,220 11,859,154 11,408,940 23,816,314
Net 511,862 8,430,583 7,815,125 16,757,570
Gross 9,832,059 74,845,681 46,612,692 131,290,432
Net 9,141,622 46,821,589 19,579,176 75,542,387
Gross 190,860,406 449,325,379 136,318,454 776,504,239
Net 57,991,154 180,067,149 43,064,408 281,122,711

The concentration by sector or maximum insured loss at the end of the year is broadly consistent with

the prior year.

Year ended 31 December

2020

Motor

Fire

Personal accident

Others

Total

B. Financial risk

Maximum Insured Loss

Shs 250 -
Shs 0-15m  Shs 15 -250m 1000m Total
000’ 000’ 000’ 000’
Gross 45,526,595 7,873,952 3,033,886 56,434,433
Net 3,576,981 7,873,952 - 11,450,933
Gross 24,230,316 72,263,630 46,439,680 142,933,626
Net 3,904,000 7,959,377 562,446 12,425,823
Gross 306,589 2,537,826 1,022,942 3,867,357
Net 72,000 194,000 20,000 286,000
Gross 11,765,315 51,094,951 32,957,252 95,817,518
Net 809,180 5,808,220 1,255,300 7,872,700
Gross 81,828,815 133,770,359 83,453,760 299,052,934
Net 8,362,161 21,835,549 1,837,746 32,035,456

The Company is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and financial liabilities reinsurance assets
and insurance liabilities. In particular the key financial risk is that the proceeds from its financial assets are not

sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its insurance and investment contracts.

The most important types of risks are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risks. Market
risks include currency risk, interest rate risk, equity price risk and other price risks. These risks arise from open
positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market
movements. The risks that the Company primarily faces due to the nature of its investments and liabilities are;
interest rate risk and credit risk.
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4. Management of insurance and financial risk (continued)

B. Financial risk (continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to the United States (US) Dollar. The Company has cash and bank balances in (US) Dollar. The
assets denominated in US Dollar at year end amounted to Shs. 20,508,854 (2020: Shs 212,526,147)
representing only 1% (2020: 4%) of total assets.

At 31 December 2021, if the shilling had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the US dollar with all

other variables held constant, the pre tax profit for the year would have been Shs 1,025,000 (2020: Shs
10,626,000) higher/lower as a result of cash and bank balances.

2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000
Foreign exchange movement 1,025 10,626
Exchange Rates
Closing rate in Shs per 1 USD 113.14 109.17
Average rate in Shs per 1 USD 109.65 106.47
(ii) Pricerisk

The Company is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investment in quoted securities and
treasury bonds classified as fair value through profit or loss. The Company is not exposed to commodity
price risk. To manage its risk arising from investments in equity the Company diversifies its portfolio on
several counters. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with limits set by the Company and
guidelines as per the Insurance Act. All quoted shares and treasury bonds held by the Company are
traded on the Nairobi Securities Exchange (NSE).

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had quoted equities of Shs 516,000 (2020: Shs 547,000).if the
NSE index had increased/decreased by 5% (2020: 5%) with all other variables held constant and all the
Company’s equity instruments moved according to the historical correlation to the index, the post-tax profit
movement would have been Shs 26,000 (2020: Shs 5,000) higher/lower.

2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000
Quoted equities impact 26 5

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Fixed interest rate financial instruments expose the Company to fair value interest rate risk. Variable
interest rate financial instruments expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk.

The Company’s fixed interest rate financial instruments are government securities and deposits with
financial institutions. The Company has no variable interest rate instruments.

No limits are placed on the ratio of variable rate financial instruments to fixed rate financial instruments.
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4. Management of insurance and financial risk (continued)
B. Financial risk (continued)

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (continued)

The following assets were subject to fair value interest risk at the end of the year:

2021 2020

Shs'000 Shs'000

Government securities at fair value through profit or loss 1,817,506 1,524,439
Deposits with financial institutions 171,100 186,555
1,988,606 1,710,994

As at 31 December 2021, if the interest rates applicable to the above mentioned financial instruments had
increased/decreased by 5% (2020: 5%) with all other variables held constant, the change to the post tax profit
would not have been significant as the instruments are placed in fixed interest rate instruments.

(iv) Credit risk

The Company has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts
in full when due. The areas where the Company is exposed to credit risk are:

* receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements;

receivables arising out of reinsurance arrangements:

Secured loans to employees;

reinsurer’s share of insurance liabilities; and

Deposits with financial institutions.

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the Company’s liabilities
as primary insurer. If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim, the Company remains liable for the payment to the
policyholder. The credit worthiness of reinsurers is considered on annual basis by reviewing their financial
strength prior to finalization of any contract. The recent payment history of reinsurers is also used to update
the reinsurance purchasing strategy.

In addition, management assesses the creditworthiness of all insurers and intermediaries by reviewing
credit grades provided by rating agencies and other publicly available financial information.

Other areas where credit risk arises include deposits with banks and other receivables. The Company has
no significant concentrations of credit risks. The Company structures the levels of credit risks it accepts by
placing limits on its exposure to a single counterparty, or groups of counterparty, and to geographical and
industry segments. Such risks are subject to an annual or more frequent review. Limits on the level of credit
risk by category and territory are approved quarterly by the Board of Directors.
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B. Financial risk (continued)

(iv) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The maximum exposure of the Company to credit risk (financial instruments subject to impairment as at
the balance sheet date) is as follows:

2021 2020

Shs'000 Shs'000

Restated

Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements 216,080 362,924

Receivables arising out of reinsurance arrangements 212,733 263,690

Secured loans to employees 194 312

Other receivables (excluding prepaid expenses) 78,515 32,878
Deposits with financial

institutions 171,100 186,555

Cash and bank balances “ 159,129 86,268

837,751 932,627

No collateral is held for the above assets.

The staging of the Company’s premium debtors arising from direct insurance
arrangements and subject to impairment is as follows:

At 31 December 2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Shs‘000 Shs’000 Shs'000 Shs'000
Receivables arising out of direct insurance

arrangements 100,009 116,071 448,574 664,654

Receivables arising out of reinsurance

arrangements 144,170 68,563 153,422 366,155

Expected credit loss - - (601,996) (601,996)
244,179 184,634 - 428,813

At 31 December 2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Restated Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000

Receivables arising out of direct insurance

arrangements 240,773 122,151 404,514 767,438

Receivables arising out of reinsurance

arrangements 75,848 49,474 138,368 263,690

Expected credit loss - - (404,514) (404,514)

316,621 171,625 138,368 626,614

37



Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes (continued)

4. Management of insurance and financial risk (continued)
B. Financial risk (continued)

(iv) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

The staging of the Company’s other financial instruments subject to impairment is as follows:

At 31 December 2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000
Receivables arising out of reinsurance

arrangements 212,733 - - 212,733

Secured loans to

employees 194 - - 194

Other receivables (excluding prepaid

expenses) 78,515 - - 78,515

Cash and bank balances 159,129 - - 159,129
450,571 - - 450,571

At 31 December 2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs’'000 Shs'000
Receivables arising out of reinsurance

arrangements 263,690 - - 263,690

Secured loans to

employees 312 - - 312

Other receivables (excluding prepaid

expenses) 32,878 - - 32,878

Cash and bank balances 86,268 - - 86,268
383,148 - - 383,148

v) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its
financial liabilities as they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn.

The Company is exposed to daily calls on its available cash for claims settiement and other administration
expenses. The Company does not maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs as experience
shows that maximum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of
certainty. The board sets limits on the minimum level of bank overdraft facilities that should be in place
to cover expenditure at unexpected levels of demand.
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4. Management of insurance and financial risk (continued)

B. Financial risk (continued)

v) Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Company under financial liabilities by remaining
contractual maturities (other than insurance liabilities which are based on expected maturities) at the

reporting date.

At 31 December 2021

Insurance contract liabilities
Creditors arising from
reinsurance arrangements

Other payables
Lease liabilities

At 31 December 2020
Restated

Insurance contract liabilities

Creditors arising from
reinsurance arrangements

Other payables
Lease liabilities

Fair value estimation

Up to 1 1to 3 3to12 1to5 Over5
month months months years years Total
Shs’000 Shs'000 Shs’'000 Shs'000 Shs'000  Shs'000
53,578 540,818 746,114 657,261 149,110 2,146,881
- 93,079 - - - 93,079
- 167,848 - - - 167,848
2,126 8,069 18,533 22,483 - 51,211
55,704 809,814 764,647 679,744 149,110 2,459,019
Upto1 1t0 3 3to12 1to5 Over5
month months months years years Total
Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000  Shs'000
147,016 140,467 586,294 403,542 96,025 1,373,344
- 64,607 - - - 64,607
- 184,876 - - - 184,876
1,830 3,951 18,048 41,282 - 65,111
148,846 393,901 604,342 444,824 96,025 1,687,938

Fair value is the price that would be received to self an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset
or a liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

IFRS 7 : Financial Instruments Disclosure requires disclosure of fair value measurements by the following
levels of hierarchy for financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at fair
value into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are

described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

o Level 2 inputs are Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

e Level 3 inputs are Inputs for the asset or liability that is not based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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4. Management of insurance and financial risk (continued)

C. Financial risk (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the
financial reporting date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices

represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

The following table represents the Company’s assets that are measured at fair value at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2020.

At 31 December 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000

Equity investments 516 - - 516
Investment property - - 50,000 50,000
Government securities 1,817,506 - - 1,817,506
Deposits with financial institutions - 171,100 - 171,100
1,818,022 171,100 50,000 2,039,122

At 31 December 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000

Equity investments 547 - - 547
Investment property - - 70,000 70,000
Government securities 1,524,439 - - 1,524,439
Deposits with financial institutions - 186,555 - 186,555
1,524,986 186,555 70,000 1,781,541

The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Company is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily equity investments
in entities listed at the Nairobi Securities Exchange. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included
in level 3.

There was no movement between the levels during the year. Specific valuation techniques used to value
financial instruments include:

e Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments; and

» Fair value of government securities is based on a yield curve based on trends at the Nairobi Securities
Exchange.
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4. Management of insurance and financial risk (continued)

B. Financial risk (continued)

Financial assets by category

Financial assets at 31 December 2021

Equity investments

Government securities

Receivables arising out of reinsurance
arrangements

Receivables arising out of direct insurance
arrangements

Deposits with financial institutions

Other receivables

Secured loans to employees

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets at 31 December 2020

Restated

Equity investments

Government securities

Receivables arising out of reinsurance
arrangements

Receivables arising out of direct insurance
arrangements

Deposits with financial institutions

Other receivables

Secured loans to employees

Cash and cash equivalents

Fair value

through

Amortized profit
cost and loss Total Fair value
Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000
- 516 516 516
- 1,817,506 1,817,506 1,817,506
212,733 - 212,733 212,733
216,080 - 216,080 216,080
171,100 - 171,100 171,100
87,142 - 87,142 87,142
194 - 104 194
159,129 - 159,129 159,129
846,378 1,818,022 2,664,400 2,664,400

Fair value

through

Amortized profit
cost and loss Total Fair value
Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000
Restated
- 547 547 547
- 1,524,439 1,524,439 1,524,439
263,690 - 263,690 263,690
362,924 - 362,924 362,924
186,555 - 186,555 186,555
38,525 - 38,525 38,5625
312 - 312 312
86,268 - 86,268 86,268
938,274 1,524,986 2,463,260 2,463,260
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4. Management of insurance and financial risk (continued)

B. Financial risk (continued)

Financial liabilities by category

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000

Restated

Creditors arising from reinsurance arrangements 93,079 64,607
Other payables 167,848 184,876
Lease liabilities 51,211 65,111
312,138 314,594

The carrying value of financial liabilities not carried at fair value approximate their fair values.

Capital management
Internally imposed capital requirements

The Company’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than shareholders’ funds
on the statement of financial position are:

o to comply with the capital requirements as set out in the Insurance Act;

e to comply with regulatory solvency requirements as set out in the Insurance Act.

¢ {o safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

o to maintain a strong asset base to support the development of business;
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital; and
to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing insurance and investment contracts
commensurate with the level of risk.

Externally imposed capital requirements

The Insurance Act requires a general insurance Company to hold the minimum level paid up capital as the
higher of:

¢ Shs 600 million;
¢ Risk based capital determined from time to time; or
o 20% of the net earned premiums of the preceding financial year.

During the year the Company did not meet the requirements for the minimum paid up capital for an
insurance business as prescribed by section 41 (1) of the Insurance Act.

The capital adequacy ratio at the end of the year was -81% (2020: 133%).
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5. Gross earned premium

2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000
Engineering 131,595 50,927
Fire domestic 70,969 80,358
Fire industrial 488,626 408,393
Liability 211,173 135,527
Marine 45,672 37,335
Motor private 945,784 680,844
Motor commercial 1,071,778 739,387
Motor PSV 312,750 182,529
Personal accident 10,840 58,850
Medical 751,679 1,119,173
Theft 154,748 138,793
Workmen compensation 425,681 96,207
Miscellaneous 51,461 12,772
4,672,756 3,741,095
6. Investment and other income

2021 2020

Shs'000 Shs'000

Interest from government securities 165,120 69,938

Interest from deposit with financial institutions 13,674 29,432

178,794 99,370

Rental income from investment properties { 5,405) 6,357

Realized loss on investment properties - (3,500)

Fair value loss on investment property (20,000) -

Fair value (loss)/gain on government securities (24,972) 41,034

Other income 11,065 29,630

Foreign exchange gain 13,619 11,999

153,101 184,890

Other income comprises pool investment income earned during the year.
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7. Net claims incurred

Engineering

Fire domestic
Fire industrial
Liability

Marine

Motor private
Motor commercial
Motor PSV
Personal accident
Medical

Theft

Workmen compensation
Miscellaneous

8. Operating and other expenses

Staff costs (note 9)

Office and administrative expenses

Audit fees

Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Marketing expenses

Provision for doubtful insurance receivables
Other expenses

9. Staff costs

Staff costs comprise of:

Salaries and wages

Pension and retirement benefits
-Defined benefit cost

-National Social Security Fund (NSSF)
Other staff costs

The number of staff employed by the company as at end of the period was 77 (2020: 80).
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2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000
7,528 3,293
12,335 12,887
51,536 894
13,752 1,408
940 7,321
967,476 481,571
842,243 431,731
393,005 68,165
26,036 (187)
150,665 138,572
21,989 11,352
30,278 13,188
1,769 (2,547)
2,519,552 1,167,648
2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000
Restated
358,340 342,049
334,173 412,897
3,935 3,435
17,625 17,237
3,833 4,962
56,051 56,599
208,467 149,401
46814 360076
1,029,238 1,346,656
299,337 265,239
28,789 27,699
191 184
30,023 48,927
358,340 342,049
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Notes (continued)

10. Current tax expense

Current tax
Deferred tax (credit)/charge (Note 14)

Prior year adjustment
Prior year capital gain tax

Total tax (charge) /credit

2021
Shs’000

(165,789)
( 2,250)

(168,039)

2020
Shs’000
Restated

16,233
2,115

481
8,248

27,077

The tax on the Company's loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the

basic rate as follows;

Loss before tax

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 30% (2020: 25%)

Tax effects of:
Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

Prior year capital gain tax
Prior year adjustment

The current tax movement during the year was as follows:

At start of year
Charge for the year
Paid in the year

At end of the year

11. Share capital and share premium

Balance at 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020

Number of
shares

205,799,630

2021 2020
Shs’000 Shs’000
Restated
(668,951) (385,279)
(200,685) (96,320)
( 7,357) {30,570)
42,253 145,238
- 8,248
(_2,250) 481
(168,039) 27,077
2020
2024 Restated
Shs’000 Shs’000
42 671 34,030
- (27,077)
109,459 35,718
152,130 42,671
Ordinary
sh_are Share
capital d
premium
Shs’000 Shs’000
1,028,998 100,362

The total authorized and issued number of ordinary shares is 205,799,630 with a par value of Shs 5. All

issued shares are fully paid.

Share premium arose on issue of shares at a premium and is not distributable.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitied to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares ranked equally with

regards to the Company residual assets.
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Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
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Notes (continued)

12 (b). Leases
Company is alessee

On the commencement date of each lease (excluding leases with a term, on commencement, of 12
months or less and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value) the Company recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid on that date.
The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Company's incremental borrowing rate is used. The incremental borrowing rate is the
internal cost of debt determined as the risk-free borrowing rate adjusted for country premium.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost comprising the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any lease payments made on or before the commencement date, any initial direct costs incurred, and an
estimate of the costs of restoring the underlying asset to the condition required under the terms of the
lease. Subsequently the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment.

Subsequently the lease liability is measured at amortised cost, subject to re-measurement to reflect any
reassessment, lease modifications, or revised fixed lease payments.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of each asset to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. If ownership of the underlying asset is not expected to pass
to the Company at the end of the lease term, the estimated useful life would not exceed the lease term.

For leases with a term, on commencement, of 12 months or less and leases for which the underlying
asset is of low value, the total lease payments are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the lease period.

The changes in leases which do not fall under the scope of COVID 19 related concessions are treated
as lease modifications. Right of use assets are re-measured and gains or losses thereof recognised as
finance cost in the statement of profit or loss under operating expenses.

Company as a lessor

The Company leases out certain properties under finance leases in its capacity as a lessor. The Company
leases out its investment property and has classified these leases as operating leases, because they do
not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the assets.
Investment property comprises one commercial property that is leased out to third parties. Each of the

leases contains an initial non-cancellable period of 6 years. Subsequent renewals are negotiated with the
lessee and historically the average renewal period is 6 years.
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12 (b). Leases (continued)

Measurement of right of use asset and lease liabilities

Right of use asset

At start of year
New lease

Amortization of right of use asset

At end of year

Lease liabilities

At start of year
New lease
Finance charge
Lease payments

At end of year

13. Intangible assets

Cost

At start and end of year

Amortization
At start of year

Charge for the year

At end of year

Net book value

2021
Shs'000

53,875
2,803
(17,626)

39,052

2020
Shs'000

69,900

(16,025)

2021
Shs'000

65,111
2,803
7,281

(23,984)

53,875

2020
Shs'000

78,412

9,122
(22,423)

51,211

2021
Shs’'000

48,663

65,111

43,823
3,833

47,656

1,007
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2020
Shs'000

48,663

38,861
4,962

43,823

4,840
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Notes (continued)

14, Deferred tax asset

Deferred tax is calculated, in full, on all temporary timing differences under the liability method using a
principal tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%) except for capital gains tax computed at 5%. The movement on the

deferred tax account is as follows:

At start of the year

Credit/(charge) to profit or loss (Note 10)

Prior year adjustment

At end of year

2021 2020
Shs’000 Shs’000
141,544 144,140
165,789 ( 2,115)

2,250 ( 481)
309,583 141,544

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax charge/ (credit) in profit or loss are attributable to the following items:

Year ended 31 December 2021

Property and equipment:
Provision for doubtful debts
IFRS 16

Deferred tax through other
comprehensive income
Trading losses

Other temporary differences

Prior year adjustment

Year ended 31 December 2020
*Restated

Property and equipment
Provision for doubtful debts
IFRS 16

Deferred tax through other
comprehensive income
Other temporary differences

Prior year adjustment

Charge/

(credit) to
At start of profit or Prior year
year loss adjustment
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

*Restated

(11,962) ( 2,135) -
(98,119) { 80,665) (1,250)
(2,473) ( 1,175) -
4,267 - (1,000)
- (106,311) -
(33,738) 26,747 -
481 ( 2,250) -
(141,544) (165,789) (2,250)

Charge /

(credit) to
At start of profit Prior year
year or loss adjustment
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
( 7,467) (4,495) -
(112,836) 14,236 481
( 2,473) -
4,267 = -
( 25,631) (8,107) -
- 481 -
(144,140) 2,115 481
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At end of
year
Shs’000

( 14,097)
(180,034)
( 3,648)
3,267
(106,311)
(6,991)

_( 1,769)

(309,583)

At end of
year
*Restated
Shs’000

( 11,962)
( 98,119)
( 2,473)

4,267

( 33,738)
481

(141,544)
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Notes (continued)
15. Investment property

15.1 Reconciliation of carrying amount

2021 2020

Shs'000 Shs'000

At start of year 70,000 490,000
Disposal - (420,000)
Fair value loss (20,000) -
At end of year 50,000 70,000

At 31 December 2021, the property located in Mombasa was measured as per the guidelines of IAS 40
‘Investment Properties’.

Changes in fair value are recognized as loss in profit or loss and included as part of investment income.
15.2 Amounts recognized in profit or loss

During 2021 Shs (5) million (2020: Shs 6 million) net of property expenses was recognized as rental
income. In 2021, Shs. 3.2 million was paid as legal fee for sale of property.

15.3 Measurement of fair values

i. Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of investment property was determined by external, independent property valuers, Knight
Frank Valuers Ltd, who have appropriate recognized professional qualifications and recent experience in
the location and category of the property valued. Investment property is valued annually by the

independent valuers.

The fair value measurement for the investment property has been categorized as a level 3 fair value
based on the inputs to the valuation techniques used (see note 4(B).

ii. Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair values of investment
properties, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Valuation technique Significant Inter-relationship between key

unobservable inputs unobservable inputs and fair value
measurement

Discounted cash flows: The Expected market rental The estimated fair value would

valuation mode! considers growth 5%. increase (decrease) if:

the present value of net cash | Holding period of 6 years. | — expected market rental growth were

flows to be generated from the | Occupancy rate 60%. higher (lower);

property, taking into account | Rent-free periods 6 - void periods were shorter (longer);

expected rental growth rate, months at the beginning | — the occupancy rate were higher

void periods, occupancy rate, | Of each lease. (lower); .

lease incentive costs such as | Discount rate 14%. — rent-free periods were shorter (longer);

; or
gir;tt;‘rﬁce)tp;z?g C:)Sy Tgr? a(:]ttr;.er — the discount rate were lower (higher).
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16. Equity investments

At start of year
Fair value loss

At end of year

17 (a). Receivables arising out of reinsurance arrangements

At start of year
Movement during the year
Provisions

At end of year

17 (b). Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements

Gross receivables
Due from related parties (Note 28)
Expected credit loss allowance

Net receivables

The carrying value of receivables above approximates their fair value.

18. Reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities and reserves

Reinsurers' share of:
Notified claims outstanding
Unearned premium

Additional unexpired risk reserve (AURR)
Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR)

2021 2020

Shs'000 Shs’000

547 754

(31) (207)

516 547
2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs’000
263,690 344,055
102,465 (80,365)
(153,422) .
212,733 263,690
2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs’000
Restated
656,268 759,051
8,386 8,386
(448,574) (404,513)
216,080 362,924
2021 2020
Shs’000 Shs’000
476,112 549,352
544,203 607,376
6,087 -
116,752 78,118
1,143,154 1,234,846
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19. Other receivables

Prepayments
Sundry debtors

Receivable on investment property
disposed

20. Deferred acquisition cost

At start of year
Charge for the year

At end of year

21. Government securities

At start of year
Additions

Disposals

Fair value (loss)/gain

At end of year

Treasury bills and bonds maturing:

Within 1 year from the reporting date
Between 1 and 5 years of the reporting
date

2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000
8,627 5,647
78,515 24,883

- 7,995

87,142 38,525
2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000
198,477 97,457
45,492 101,020
243,969 198,477
2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000
1,524,439 900,008
345,809 583,397
(27,770) -
(24,972) 41,034
1,817,506 1,524,439
2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000
140,000 75,000
1,677,506 1,449,439
1,817,506 1,524,439

Treasury bonds amounting to Shs. 360,000,000 (2020: Shs. 250,000,000) are held with Central Bank of

Kenya under lien in accordance with Section 32 of the Insurance Act.
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21. Government securities (continued)

Weighted average interest rates at the reporting date were as follows:

2021
%
Government securities 11.68%
Deposits with financial institutions 7.70%
22. Secured loans to employees
2021
Shs'000
Secured loans to employees 194

2020
%

11.55%
6.13%

2020
Shs'000

312

23. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the year end cash and cash equivalents comprise of the

following:
2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000
Restated
Cash and bank balances 159,129 86,268
Deposits with financial institutions 171,100 186,555
330,229 272,823

54



1)

v18'sv. 0.b 229 yhe‘cLe L 0€6°LYS L 156865 188'9v1LT Jeak jo pus je [ejo|
RS 8118/ Gy8°'12e 98y'68¢ Z5L9LL 8€2°205 (4NgI) psyodal jou Ing pasndu]
= - - ole‘Lz 1809 €0v'/T (d9nv) Ysu pauidxaun [euonippy
Y1209 ZS€'6vS 667 LGL L 8ZLLbL L L9y ovZ ZL9) Swieo paiijoN
p18'Sv. 0.v°229 pre‘elsL 0£6°LVS°L 156865 188‘ovL°C leak jo pua je |ejo]
605 VS L GEO'EE0’) Y¥G/8L°C 2569622 6/8°060°L LEY LYEE swiefo Jeak Juauno woJy buisue —
(L28'c ) (gsz'z ) (6TL'S) 9gLe‘Le 1800 cov'le YNy woui Buisye —
£8L‘0L Z18'92 G66'Ch G89°'LYT 80/'g¢ £6£°082 HNgIl woly Buisue —
“SSIIG.I| Ul JUSWSAON
(0L9“LLLY) (zeL'8g9) (zv2'66L°L) (L6V°2LL'L) (€6L'v91°L) (069°188°27)  Jeak ul pspjes swie Joy pled ysen
£99'689 £10'852 9/9'/v6 v/8'Gy . 0.¥'229 vhe'ele L Jeaf jo ye}s e |ejo])
WA 90€°1LS 6v8'8/| 1Z1°EvL 8118/ G¥8'12e (YNgI) pajiodad Jou Ing palinouj
1182 862 621G e - - (Y¥NY) Ssu paadxaun [euonIppy
6v2'65S 67y v0T 869°c9/ L¥1'209 ZSE'61S 661 LGL L Swiejo patiioN
000.SYsS 000.SYS 000.SYS 000.SYS 000.SYS 000.SYS
1°N aouelnsulay SS0U5) 1°N adueinsudy S$S049)
0202 1202

:UMOYs aJe Sjosse ddurINSUId) pue sal}l|Iqel] JOBIIUOD ADURINSUI U] SJUBWSAOWN  bZ

(panunuoo) sajoN

1202 Jaquieoa( L¢ papua Jeak sy Jo-
SjusWajlels [eloueUl
PajWIT 9OUBINSU| [eI8USS) Wejues



9G

z8s‘0vZ’L (92£°209) 866 L18'L Lz eyl (c0Z'vvs) $26'696°L 1eak jo pus jy
000°'62E (152°262) 1GZ'Z8S 6cL181 €/1°€9 996°LL1 (1au) poued ayj ul sseaJoU|
Z8G'Sl6 (szlL'os¢) 102'692°1L 28G°0¥Z'L (92€°209) 8G6°/¥8°L Jesak Jo Lels 1y
000.SYS 000.S4S 000.S4S 000.SYS 000.SUS 000.SYS
1N aoueInsuIdy SS0.9) N aoueInsuIdy SS0I9

0202 1202

"pus Jeah sy} Je palidxe jou aAey suonebi|qo s, Auedwo) sy} s1aym S}ORIUOD SSBUISNG WIS}-MOYS 0y AljIge)| ay) Juasaidal suoisiroid asay |

wniwaud psuieaun gz

188°9VL'c  0LL'LSE  6S0'80L €9t'96 v¥e'9g \SYLL GZL9L 9Ll uonisod [eoueul

0 Juswiale)s ay) ul papnjoul Ajljigel| swielo ssolb [ejo]
8€C°20S 68666 6v0'6 8Ly'9l GYL'6l G89'lL 14 X4 pajiodal jou Ing paunou
G¥6'850°L  629'780°L 180'8Y. 690'891°L 666C6E'L  YLG'CO¥  €SE€V0E  0SL°9/L 9lep 0} sjuswAed aAleINWND
9/€'s26°L  0S€'9ee’L  1B0°LY8 ELL8PC’L  86L°0EY'L  08Z'8LY  $2S'02€  6l¥'98l SWIED SAIEINWND JO SJEWNSS JudLND
= - - - - - - 68911 Jole| sIeaA usnsg
- - 5 - - = LZL'9L 918Gl Jaje| sieak xig
- - - - - 192°G1 zls'oz eve'le Joje| sieak oAl
. C - - 661°,¢ 29.'8 €08°le 119vy Jsje| sseah ino4
- - - ¥¥0°'08 VLG A Yylve LlE'6Y 9€€'99 laje| sieah oa1y
- - 0L0°66 ¥68°'SY 0L292 GG6°CS 9£6'98 156°0YL Jaje| sieah om}
- leL'Lse LE9°6YL 66076 YPO'LLL vesLL G8lLcSL  vSe'ovl Jaje| seak suQ
LEv'998 \rLveL ¥8.°,0€ LEV'0CS GZ0°'99¢ 88C°CSl  ¥66°LL vZL'6. lea juspiooy

000.sUs 000.sYys  000.sys 000.sus 000.sUs 000,SsYs 000.sUs 000.,sUs
Lcoz 020¢ 6102 810¢ Lloe 9102 GSLoe vLoe Jeak Juaplooy

"Spus Jeak aAIssa00Ns Je pabueyo sey Jesk Juspiode Loes o) BUIpuBlSING SWie|d (10} J0 sjewnss s,Auedwod sy}
MOY Sejellsni|l MOjaq BIqe} UL "SWIefo JO snjeA Slewiin ay) sjewnss o} Ajliqe s Auedwo sy jo ainsesw e sepiroid saijigel] 9ouBINSUI JO JusdojpAsp ay |

(panuiuo9) samjiqel JoeUOD doURINSU| ‘HZ

(panunuoo) sajoN

1202 Jaqwiaoaq Lg pepus Jeak ay) 4o
Sjuswale}s |elouell
paliwi 9oUBINSU| [eIBUSL) Wejues



Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes (continued)

26. Deferred reinsurance commission

At start of year
Movement during the year

At end of year

27. Other payables

Rent deposits

Other liabilities

Provision for outstanding leave
Intercompany —Sanlam Life Limited
Accruals

28. Related party transactions and balances

2021 2020
Shs '000 Shs '000
119,189 48,235
(7,980) 70,954
111,209 119,189
2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs'000
Restated

508 907
95,090 50,232
4,648 4,001
1,892 724
65,710 129,012
167,848 184,876

Sanlam General Insurance Limited is controlled by Sanlam Kenya Plc, a company incorporated in Kenya.
The Company’s ultimate parent is Sanlam Limited, incorporated in South Africa. There are other
companies related to Sanlam General Insurance Limited through common directorships. In the normal
course of business, insurance policies are sold to related parties at terms and conditions similar to those

offered to major clients.

i Transactions with related parties

Gross earned premium

Sanlam Investment E.A. Limited
Sanlam Life Insurance Limited
Sanlam PLC Staff Retirement Benefit
Scheme

Sanlam Kenya PLC
Isaac G Wanjohi
Sanlam Umbrella

2021 2020

Relationship Shs'000 Shs'000
Common ultimate parent 4,473 4,598
Common parent 21,925 6,459
Common parent 176 441
Parent 503 2,038
Director 609 -
Common parent - 104
27,686 13,640
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Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes (continued)
28. Related party transactions and balances (continued)

ii. Outstanding balances with related parties

2021 2020
Relationship Shs’'000 Shs'000
Amounts due from related parties
Saham Re Common ultimate parent 2,511 -
Sanlam Pan Africa Ultimate parent 19,051 14,980
21,562 14,980
Amounts due to related parties
Sanlam Life Insurance Company Ltd Common parent 1,892 724
Sanlam Emerging Markets Ultimate parent 2,143 14,206
Sanlam Securities Common ultimate parent 920 1,659
4,955 16,589
Premiums receivable from related parties Directors 8,386 8,386
Related party balances are payable on demand and are non-interest bearing.
ili. Directors’ remuneration
2021 2020
Shs’'000 Shs’000
Directors' fees and allowances 7,151 6,001
Directors' other remuneration 26,586 25,831
33,737 31,832

iv. Key management compensation

Key management includes members of senior management. The compensation paid or payable to key

management for employee services is shown below:

Remuneration of senior management

2021
Shs'000

130,657

2020
Shs'000

115,879
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Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes (continued)

29. Cash generated from operations

2021 2020
Shs'000 Shs’'000
Reconciliation of loss before tax to cash from operations: Restated
Loss before tax (668,951) (385,279)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property and equipment 12(a) 17,667 17,413
Depreciation of right of use asset 12(b) 17,626 16,025
Amortisation of intangible assets 13 3,833 4,962
Finance charge on lease liabilities 12(b) 7,281 9,122
Interest income 6 (178,794) { 99,370)
Realised gain on sale of investment property - 3,500
Foreign exchange gain 6 ( 13,619) ( 11,999)
Fair value loss on quoted shares 16 31 207
Fair value loss on investment property 6 20,000 -
Fair value loss/(gain) on government securities 6 24,972 ( 41,034)
Changes in working capital:
Insurance contract liabilities 773,537 425,668
Unearned premium reserves 25 117,966 582,251
Deferred acquisition cost { 45,492) ( 52,786)
Deferred reinsurance commissions 26 ( 7,980) 70,594
Receivables arising out of reinsurance arrangements 50,957 80,365
Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangement 146,844 66,714
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 91,692 (626,708)
Creditors arising from reinsurance arrangements 28,472 ( 61,564)
Other payables ( 17,028) 121,901
Other receivables { 48,617) 15,512
Cash generated from operations 320,397 135,494

30. Restatement of prior year comparatives

3

0.1 Correction of errors

The company has restated the 2020 comparatives to take into account material omissions of
management expenses, correct overstated cash and bank balances and correct overstated direct
insurance receivables in the 2020 financial statements. The restatements did not have an impact on
the 2019 financial statements hence these were not restated. The restatements resulted in the following
changes:

Statement of financial position changes:

1.
2.
3.
4.

5.
6.

impairment.
comprehensive income.

comprehensive income.

Cash and bank balances correction of overstatement to write off unreconciled items.
Other payables updated to account for additional accruals.

Retained earnings declined due to changes in income statement.

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

7

8.

. Operating and other expenses revised to account for additional accruals.
Income tax revised in line with changes in expenses.

Statement of cash flows:

9

. Cash generated from operations revised to account for change in profitability.
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Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements reduced due to additional provisions for
Current income tax updated in line with changes in statement of profit and loss and other

Deferred income tax updated in line with changes in statement of profit and loss and other



Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes (continued)
30. Restatement of prior year comparatives continued

30.1 Correction of errors (continued)

Notes to the financial statements:
in line with the changes noted above, the relevant notes below have been updated:

Note 4 Management of insurance and financial risk (iv) Credit risk — receivables arising out of direct
insurance arrangements.

Note 4 Management of insurance and financial risk (v) Liquidity risk — receivables arising out of direct
insurance arrangements.

Note 4 Management of insurance and financial risk, fair value estimation — receivables arising out of
direct insurance arrangements, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Note 4 Management of insurance and financial risk, financial liabilities at amortized cost — other
payables.

Note 8 Operating expenses — office and administrative expenses, marketing expenses, provision for
doubtful insurance receivables and other expenses.

Note 10 Current tax expense

Note 14 Deferred tax

Note 17 (a) Receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements
Note 23 Cash and cash equivalents

Note 27 Other payables

Note 29 Cash generated from operations — receivables arising out of direct insurance arrangements
and trade and other payables

30.2 The tables below summarize the effect of the restatements to the Company’s statement of financial
position, statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of cash flows

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020

Impact of correction of errors

As previously
reported Adjustment As restated

Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000
Capital employed
Share capital 1,028,998 - 1,028,998
Share premium 100,362 - 100,362
Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 52,911 (550,095) (497,184)
Shareholders’ funds 1,182,271 (550,095) 632,176
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Sanlam General Insurance Limited

Financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes (continued)

30. Restatement of prior year comparatives (continued)

30.2 The tables below summarize the effect of the restatements to the Company’s statement of financial
position, statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of cash flows

(continued)

Assets

Property and equipment
Right of Use Assets
Deferred income tax

Receivables arising out of direct insurance

arrangement

Current income tax
Cash and bank balances
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Lease liabilities
Other payables
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Net assets

Impact of correction of errors

As previously

reported Adjustment As restated
Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs’000
77,748 - 77,748
53,875 - 53,875
139,294 2,250 141,544
506,334 (143,410) 362,924
23,035 19,636 42,671
446,344 (360,076) 86,268
3,522,231 - 3,522,231
4,768,861 (481,600) 4,287,261
65,111 - 65,111
116,381 68,495 184,876
3,405,098 - 3,405,098
3,586,590 68,495 3,655,085
1,182,271 (550,095) 632,176

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December

2020

Gross written premium

Net earned premium
Investment income
Commissions earned

Total income

Net claims incurred
Commissions payable
Operating and other expenses

Total expenses

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax (expense) /credit

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year

Impact of correction of errors

As previously

reported Adjustment As restated
Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000
4,066,095 - 4,066,095
2,046,760 - 2,046,760
184,890 - 184,890
365,399 - 365,399
2,597,049 - 2,597,049
1,167,648 - 1,167,648
468,024 - 468,024
774,676 571,980 1,346,656
2,410,348 571,980 2,982,328
186,701 (571,980) (385,279)
(48,962) 21,885 (27,077)
137,739 (550,095) (412,356)
137,739 (550,095) (412,356)
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Sanlam General Insurance Limited
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes (continued)

30. Restatement of prior year comparatives (continued)

30.2 The tables below summarize the effect of the restatements to the Company’s statement of financial
position, statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of cash flows

(continued)

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2020

Impact of correction of errors

2020
As previously

reported Adjustment As restated

Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000
Operating activities
Cash generated from operations 507,569 (360,076) 147,493
Income tax paid (35,718) - (35,718)
Interest received 99,370 - 99,370
Net cash generated from operating activities 571,221 (360,076) 211,145
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (6,056) - (6,056)
Proceeds from sale of investment property 420,000 - 420,000
Others (583,208) - (583,208)
Net cash used in investing activities (169,264) - (169,264)
Financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities (22,423) - (22,423)
Net cash used in financing activities (22,423) - (22,423)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 379,534 (360,076) 19,458
At start of year 253,365 - 253,365
At end of year 632,899 (360,076) 272,823

31. Subsequent events

On 5 May 2022, the Company received KShs 1.085 billion subordinated debt from Sanlam Emerging

Markets (2020: none).
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